MINUTES

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE

DATE:
TIME:
PLACE:

MEMBERS
PRESENT:

ABSENT/
EXCUSED:

NOTE:

CONVENED:

INTRODUCTION:

RS 32268

MOTION:

RS 32280

DISCUSSION:

MOTION:

Monday, February 17, 2025
1:30 P.M.
Room WW54

Chairman Lakey, Vice Chairman Shippy, Senators Ricks, Foreman, Lent, Lenney,
Keyser, Wintrow, and Ruchti

None

The sign-in sheet, testimonies and other related materials will be retained with
the minutes in the committee's office until the end of the session and will then be
located on file with the minutes in the Legislative Services Library.

Chairman Lakey called the Senate Judiciary and Rules Committee (Committee)
to order at 1:30 p.m.

Chairman Lakey introduced the new Senate Page. Ava Larson shared that she
was a senior at Thomas Jefferson Charter School in Caldwell, but lived in Nampa.
She worked at the Caldwell YMCA, lived in Cambodia for three years, and her
hobbies included traveling, reading, and pyrography.

Relating to a Voluntary Post Adoption Agreement between Adoptive
Parents and a birth mother/birth parent. Senator Julie VanOrden stated that
this legislation would allow both the birth parents and the adoptive parents to
voluntarily agree regarding matters concerning the adopted child. The contract
would be signed by each party and approved by the court, but could be amended
if both parties consented. The contract did not prevent the adoptive parents from
moving out of State. The purpose of this legislation was to put this contract into
code to make the agreement enforceable.

Senator Ricks moved to send RS 32268 to print. Senator Shippy seconded the
motion. The motion carried by voice vote.

Relating to Definitional Additions to Section 39-2602, Idaho Code, to include
"Aerial Common Fireworks." Senator Dave Lent explained that this legislation
was meant to update code in order to allow for more laws addressing firework use
to be introduced in the State, and to help end work-arounds regarding firework
use.

Senator Ricks asked if RS 32280 made any substantive changes to the existing
law or if the only change was the addition of new definitions. Senator Lent
replied that the main change to the current law was that "aerial" would be added
to describe fireworks throughout the text. Senator Lent said that RS 32280 did
not create any additional regulations because it only changed a definition. He
added that this legislation allowed for more restrictions on aerial fireworks to be
introduced in the future.

Senator Wintrow questioned if this legislation allowed aerial fireworks to be both
bought and legally launched in Idaho. Senator Lent explained that at that time
aerial fireworks were both bought and launched in Idaho. This was contrary to
some laws and was only happening because of workarounds, which was what RS
32280 was meant to address.

Senator Ricks moved to send RS 32280 to print. Senator Ruchti seconded the
motion. The motion carried by voice vote.



RS 32421

DISCUSSION:

MOTION:

Relating to studies designed to assess and guide improvements to Idaho's
highway infrastructure. Senator Lori Den Hartog explained that this legislation
required the Department of Transportation to enact planning and environmental
linkage studies and to make it a high priority. She also stated that many studies on
Idaho corridors were already available and could be used. Senator Den Hartog
added that the private sector could help fund the planning of these highways.

Chairman Lakey asked Senator Den Hartog to confirm that RS 32421 had come
with a recommendation from Senator Okuniewicz. Senator Den Hartog replied
in the affirmative.

Senator Ricks moved to send RS 32421 to print. Senator Wintrow seconded
the motion. The motion carried by voice vote.

GUBERNATORIAL Senator Wintrow motioned to send the Gubernatorial Appointment of Marianne

APPOINTMENT

VOTE:

King to serve as Administrator of the Office of Drug Policy to the floor with a
recommendation that she be confirmed by the Senate. Senator Lent seconded
the motion. The motion carried by voice vote.

GUBERNATORIAL Committee Consideration of the Reappointment of Matthew Thomas of
REAPPOINTMENT: Weiser, Idaho, to the Sexual Offender Management Board (SOMB) to serve

DISCUSSION:

a term commencing January 1, 2025, and expiring January 1, 2028. Sheriff
Thomas shared that he was a Sheriff of Washington County and would like to
be reappointed to the SOMB in order to have input in any changes to the sex
offender registry.

Senator Wintrow requested that Sheriff Thomas describe the background, skills,
and qualities that would allow him to succeed in this position. Sheriff Thomas
stated that sheriffs were responsible for registering sex offenders and there were
forty-nine sex offenders in Washington County. He worked to notify the public
where they lived, ensured they lived in suitable areas, and removed them if they
moved too close to schools. Sheriff Thomas shared that he had family members
who had been affected by sexual offenders which made this job very personal to
him and something he took very seriously.

Chairman Lakey questioned if Sheriff Thomas included the Sheriff's Association
in decisions concerning sexual offenders. Sheriff Thomas replied in the
affirmative, and stated that he represented these sheriffs and presented all
decisions to the board so they could make decisions collectively.

Senator Ricks asked Sheriff Thomas to provide more details regarding the
SOMB and their work. Sheriff Thomas described a three-tier system was
implemented. The third tier offenders were on the sexual offender registry for life.
The first and second tier offenders had to complete their sentence, probation, and
not commit any further crimes, and then, after a certain period of time, petitioned
to be taken off the registry.

Senator Keyser asked Sheriff Thomas to describe the effectiveness of the Rider
Program. Sheriff Thomas remarked that his own personal opinion of the Rider
Program was that it was not very effective. In his experience, this program was
overused by judges, and he believed that most of the people who went through
the program ended up back in the system soon after.

GUBERNATORIAL Committee Consideration of the Reappointment of Mike Matthews of Declo,
REAPPOINTMENT: Idaho, to the Commission of Pardons and Parole to serve a term commencing

January 1, 2025, and expiring January 1, 2028. Mr. Matthews indicated that

he had already worked on the Commission of Pardons and Parole for twenty

years. He wished to serve another term because he was still alive and wished
to continue fulfilling his own expectations of himself.

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE
Monday, February 17, 2025—Minutes—Page 2



DISCUSSION:

PRESENTATION:

Senator Wintrow asked Mr. Matthews how he balanced public safety,
accountability, and the rehabilitation of the person he was seeing. Mr. Matthews
replied that for each individual that came before him, he was provided with a
packet that detailed the person's history, professional assessments, risk of
re-offending, and alcohol and substance abuse exams, along with other relevant
material. Mr. Matthews explained that all of this information was taken into
consideration during the discussion, and his decisions were not easy and not
taken lightly.

Senator Ricks asked Mr. Matthews what the average workload for the
Commission of Pardons and Parole was like. Mr. Matthews replied that the
commissioners all met about 75 days per year. He stated that the hearings
varied in length depending on the crime and history of the criminal, and hearing
preparation also varied. He added that the average number of hearings a day was
about twenty, averaging around one hundred hearings a week. Senator Ricks
asked Mr. Matthews what expectations he would hold for himself if reappointed.
Mr. Matthews responded that he would be committed to putting the time in and
doing the right thing for all of the people involved.

Senator Wintrow thanked Mr. Matthews for his dedication in fulfilling such a
serious job and remarked that she was working to increase pay for those in such
serious positions. Mr. Matthews remarked there was a House Bill to create such
legislation and thanked Senator Wintrow for drawing attention to the issue.

EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS - Kelli D. Brassfield, Policy Advisor,
Idaho Association of Counties, introduced Sheriff Sam Hulse, Bonneville
County Sheriff and President of the Idaho Sheriff's Association, and Andy Creech,
Payette County Sheriff representing the Idaho Sheriff's Association Legislative
Committee. Ms. Brassfield stated their presentations covered the history of
emergency communications in Idaho, the current infrastructure, and the failures
of emergency communications.

Sheriff Sam Hulse, Bonneville County Sheriff, stated how important it was to
have reliable emergency communication systems in Idaho and across the country.
The current infrastructure of those systems was aging nationwide. In 1968, the
911 number was first established, and in 1999 the system was enhanced to
accommodate cell phones, and to show where the call originated from. A $1.00
fee to pay for shortfalls in funding to maintain the land lines was charged in 1988.
In 2008, Idaho opted into a $.25 grant fee that allowed counties to participate.
Bonneville County and Ada County did not opt into the agreement. They were the
most populous counties and that impacted the fees. The County Commissioners
were contacted, and they failed to agree to participate in the grant fee program.

Discussions about migrating to the next generation standards, known as NG 911,
began in 2011. Estimated cost of NG 911 was about $14 billion to go across the
nation. ldaho was behind some of the states in implementation. As of 2024, Idaho
had only one county who had begun a contract for next gen services. In 2025,
there was legislation considered to implement the services.

The infrastructure was old and the parts were dying. This situation was causing
911 calls to either not be answered, be forwarded incorrectly, or not be sent at
all. Sheriff Hulse stated this was an analog infrastructure that needed to be
replaced with new modern systems with capable location based routing devices
and new technologies.

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE
Monday, February 17, 2025—Minutes—Page 3



DISCUSSION:

Sheriff Andy Creech, Payette County Sheriff, said he represented the Idaho
Sheriff's Association Legislative Committee. Sheriff Creech indicated they

had received many calls from all over the State of Idaho indicating outages or
failures in their systems. He shared some examples of failures the program had
experienced. There were some additional programs that handled situations that
were outside of the 911 system. One of those was called Rapid S.0.S. and it was
being used because Next Generation 911 was not in operation. The equipment
was so outdated that there was concern that if a broken switch could be brought
down, updated, and get it back online. When a switch was down, no one could
call 911 in ten counties. An additional problem with the current system was calls
were being routed to Montana. When they were sent back to Idaho, the location
data and caller information was lost. The system was not intended to route cell
phone calls, which currently makes up to 90% of the 911 calls. Sheriff Creech
summarized the problem with the 911 system and stated it was never designed or
developed to be used as it was today.

Senator Ricks asked if there was a cost estimate to replace the system. Sheriff
Creech said there had been discussions with the Idaho Association of Counties,
Idaho Sheriff's Association and the Idaho Public Safety Communications
Commission and they had received a few estimates. There was an additional
related cost to repair radio systems that also had a failed infrastructure. The
estimated cost of the combined projects was approximately $22 million. The
cost without the radio infrastructure was closer to $14 million. Sheriff Creech
explained this was a next generation core service for a cloud-based system.
Idaho would not own the equipment. The funds were for an annual service
agreement with an annual cost. Part of the money went towards core services,
data development, and development of the network that connected when one
moved away from traditional routing. The accuracy of the data was very important
because without it. the connection from call to location was not made. Chairman
Lakey asked if there were multiple companies able to provide the services and
would additional personnel be needed. Sheriff Creech responded there were
multiple companies able to provide the services and it would be necessary to go
through the State purchasing process to select a vendor. There was an NG 911
standard known as i3 and it was required in all the systems purchased. Senator
Lent asked if sharing the costs in a user fee was considered. Sheriff Creech
said there had been discussions about increasing the $.25 fee to $.65 per user
per line per month. If Bonneville and Ada Counties started paying into the fund,
that would enable implementation of the new system. If that fee was increased to
$1.00, there would be enough funds to fix the phone and radio systems. Sheriff
Creech stated this was a public safety issue that many citizens were not aware
of. The changes needed to be made in a timely manner, and it was necessary to
get the revenue needed to make it possible.

Ms. Brassfield explained there were two major stakeholders who worked with
emergency communications. The State had their part and the local agencies
who run the dispatch centers had theirs. The two needed to work together to
accomplish the transition. Ms. Brassfield asked legislators to keep the issue
alive and recognize how important it was.

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE
Monday, February 17, 2025—Minutes—Page 4



S 1104

TESTIMONY:

MOTION:

S 1090

TESTIMONY:

ADOPTION - Amends existing law to provide that certain legal advice

and counseling services be provided to birth parents and to provide for
notification of such services. Senator Tammy Nichols presented S 1104 and
explained that the current legislation required adoptive parents to pay for up to
$2,000 of the birth parents' legal and medical costs. S 1104 would only clarify
that counseling services were included in these medical costs, ensuring that birth
parents were aware of their right to paid counseling. This legislation allowed for
up to three optional pre-placement counseling sessions and up to six optional
post-placement counseling sessions for the birth parents up to $2,000, to be
paid for by the adoptive parents.

Senator Shippy asked Senator Nichols if adoptive parents currently had the
ability to pay for this counseling for the birth parents. Senator Nichols responded
in the affirmative, explaining that, by law, $2,000 for financial assistance was
already provided by the adoptive parents for the birth parents. Senator Nichols
added the adoptive parents already had to provide $2,000 in financial assistance
for the birth parents to use for doctors' visits, medical care, and legal counseling.
This bill would not add to that $2,000, it only clarified that this money could be
used for counseling services.

Teresa Marcroft represented Unplanned Good Inc. and spoke in favor of S
1104, stating the legislation ensured that birth parents knew they were entitled

to counseling and an attorney. The right to counseling was not codified in Idaho
adoption statute, so this legislation helped protect the mental health of birth
mothers and brought Idaho up to the standard of many other states. She stressed
that notifying birth mothers of their right to an attorney and representation ensured
they were protected legally and emotionally.

Senator Lent moved to send S 1104 to the floor with a do pass recommendation.
Senator Ricks seconded the motion. Chairman Lakey commented this bill

was important and prevented babies from going to the highest bidder and made
adoption in Idaho easier for the birth mother. The motion carried by voice vote.

JUVENILE PROCEEDINGS - Amends existing law to revise provisions
regarding certain juvenile proceedings. Senator Codi Galloway presented
S 1090 and stated that the legislation had come from one of her constituents,
and she was present to tell her story.

Natalie Baum testified on her own behalf and spoke in favor of S 1090. Mrs.
Baum shared that she and her husband had two little boys arrive at their house
after these boys had been removed from an unsafe home. Both boys had shown
signs of abuse, and Mrs. Baum and her husband spent over a year helping
these kids feel safe and loved. After 16 months, the biological parents' parental
rights had been terminated, and Mrs. Baum and her husband became the boys'
foster parents, and were set to adopt them. The adoption trial was delayed for
six months and, in this time, the biological mom became sober and employed for
three months, which meant that she had completed her case plan and could be
reunited with her boys. Mrs. Baum and the judge in the case knew that returning
the boys to their biological mother was not a safe choice. The mother had a
long history of substance abuse and had previous children removed from her
guardianship. The only choice Mrs. Baum had for retaining these children was
filing for guardianship, which could be challenged at any time. Mrs. Baum urged
the Committee to reconsider the policies on reunification with biological parents in
order to allow all foster children a permanent safe and loving home.

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE
Monday, February 17, 2025—Minutes—Page 5



DISCUSSION:

MOTION:

S 1101

TESTIMONY:

DISCUSSION:

MOTION:

ADJOURNED:

Senator Galloway explained that S 1090 amended the Child Protective Act to
allow foster children to quickly be placed into a permanent loving home. This
legislation would allow judges to use additional factors to decide where the child
was placed, such as allowing judges to take into consideration the bond between
the child and substitute caretaker, and accounting for the biological parents'
efforts to be law-abiding citizens. The legislation shortened the period between
review hearings and the custody timeline in order to place children in permanent
homes which reduced the trauma and uncertainty of this process.

Senator Shippy commented that he and his wife had foster children for a long
period of time but the children ended up being moved back to their biological
parents. The was hard on him and his wife, especially, as one of the kids had been
in their family longer than he had been with his own biological mother. Senator
Shippy commented that he appreciated the legislation and was in full support.

Senator Shippy moved to send S 1090 to the floor with a do pass
recommendation. Senator Keyser seconded the motion. The motion carried by
voice vote.

CORONERS - Amends, repeals, and adds to existing law to revise and
establish provisions regarding the duties of county coroners. Senator
Wintrow presented S 1101 and explained that this legislation created duties,
definitions, and training expectations for Idaho coroners. Senator Wintrow
explained that coroners in the State lacked consistency on matters such as the
ordering of an autopsy, which lead to many concerns the legislation worked to
correct.

Torey Danner, Bannock County Coroner and President of the Coroner's
Association, spoke in favor of S 1101. Mr. Danner explained this bill clarified the
roles and responsibilities of Idaho coroners in order to create consistency and
ensured that all coroners were on the same page. Mr. Danner remarked he had
noticed different counties using different procedures, which had led to confusion
and misunderstandings.

Alan Hodges testified on his own behalf against S 1101. Mr. Hodges explained
that his teenage daughter, who had known epilepsy, had a tonic seizure in the
bath. The coroner and sargeant arrived at the scene and took nude photos of
Mr. Hodges's daughter, then turned the house into a crime scene. Mr. Hodges
explained that because Idaho did not have confidentiality laws for coroners, he
had no control over the photos of his daughter. He urged the Committee to not
pass the bill as it did not include a confidentiality clause.

Chairman Lakey asked Mr. Hodges to affirm that he opposed S 1101 because
he believed the legislation was moving in the right direction but did not go far
enough. Mr. Hodges replied in the affirmative, and explained there was a lot
of inconsistency regarding the actions of Idaho coroners. Many coroners did
not take the required annual 24 hours of training and were not penalized as a
consequence. He believed that coroner legislation was necessary but stated S
1011 did not achieve enough.

Senator Foreman moved to send S 1101 to the floor with a do pass
recommendation. Senator Lent seconded the motion. Chairman Lakey
requested that Senator Wintrow work with Mr. Hodges regarding future coroner
legislation. The motion carried by voice vote.

There being no further business at this time, Chairman Lakey adjourned the
meeting at 3:02 p.m.

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE
Monday, February 17, 2025—Minutes—Page 6



Senator Lakey Sharon Pennington
Chair Secretary

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE
Monday, February 17, 2025—Minutes—Page 7



